
City of Capitola Agenda

Mayor: Yvette Brooks

Vice Mayor: Sam Storey

Council Members: Jacques Bertrand

Margaux Keiser

Kristen Petersen 

CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
REGULAR MEETING

THURSDAY, MARCH 11, 2021

7 PM

CLOSED SESSION – 6 PM
An announcement regarding the items to be discussed in Closed Session will be made in 
the City Hall Council Chambers prior to the Closed Session.  Members of the public may, at 
this time, address the City Council on closed session items only.  There will be a report of 
any final decisions in City Council Chambers during the Open Session Meeting.

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 
(Gov’t Code § 54957.6)

 Negotiators: Algeria Ford, Larry Laurent 
Employee Organizations: (1) Association of Capitola Employees; (2) Police Captains;   
3) Mid-Management Group; (4) Department Heads; (5) Confidential Employees; (6) 
Capitola Police Officers Association; (7) City Manager 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL – ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

Initiation of litigation pursuant to Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(4).
(One potential case)

REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL - 7 PM
All correspondences received prior to 5:00 p.m. on the Wednesday preceding a Council 
Meeting will be distributed to Councilmembers to review prior to the meeting.  Information 
submitted after 5 p.m. on that Wednesday may not have time to reach Councilmembers, nor 
be read by them prior to consideration of an item.

All matters listed on the Regular Meeting of the Capitola City Council Agenda shall be 
considered as Public Hearings.



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
March 11, 2021

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 3/5/2021 2:48 PM

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
Council Members Kristen Petersen, Jacques Bertrand, Margaux Keiser, Sam Storey, and 
Mayor Yvette Brooks

2. PRESENTATIONS

Presentations are limited to eight minutes.

A. Proclaim March 2021 American Red Cross Month 

3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION

4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS

Additional information submitted to the City after distribution of the agenda packet.

5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA

6. PUBLIC COMMENTS

Please review the Notice of Remote Access for instructions.

7. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS

City Council Members/Staff may comment on matters of a general nature or identify issues 
for staff response or future council consideration. No individual shall speak for more than 
two minutes.

8. CONSENT CALENDAR

All items listed in the “Consent Calendar” will be enacted by one motion in the form listed 
below.  There will be no separate discussion on these items prior to the time the Council 
votes on the action unless members of the City Council request specific items to be 
discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for separate discussion will be considered 
following General Government.

Note that all Ordinances which appear on the public agenda shall be determined to have 
been read by title and further reading waived.

A. Consider the February 25, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes.

B. Approval of City Check Registers Dated February 5, February 12, February 19 and 
February 26, 2021 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers.

C. Approve Contract with Carolyn Flynn for Professional Services Related to Affordable 
Housing Programs 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve an amendment to the existing sole source 
contract ($24,940) with Carolyn Flynn for an additional $10,150 not to exceed 
$35,090 for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 for assistance with affordable housing programs.  

D. Receive Update on Pandemic Response 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 1) Approve the proposed resolution ratifying Emergency 
Order 1-2021, rescinding Emergency Orders 1-2020 and 2-2020, and 2) make the 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
March 11, 2021

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 3/5/2021 2:48 PM

determination that all hazards related to the worldwide spread of the coronavirus 
(COVID-19) as detailed in Resolution No. 4168 adopted by the City Council on 
March 12, 2020, still exist and that there is a need to continue action.

9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS

All items listed in “General Government” are intended to provide an opportunity for public 
discussion of each item listed. The following procedure pertains to each General 
Government item:  1) Staff explanation; 2) Council questions; 3) Public comment; 4) Council 
deliberation; 5) Decision.

A. Recreation Report and Update on Summer 2021 Programs 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report regarding recent Recreation Division 
activity and planned summer programs, including the new proposed Capitola Family 
Camp.  

B. Fiscal Year 2020-21 Mid-Year Budget Update 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive Fiscal Year 2020-21 Mid-Year Budget Update 
and adopt the proposed resolution amending the Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget.

10. ADJOURNMENT

NOTICE OF REMOTE ACCESS
In accordance with the current Santa Cruz County Health Order outlining social distancing 
requirements and Executive Order N-29-20 from the Executive Department of the State of 
California, the City Council meeting is not physically open to the public and in person 
attendance cannot be accommodated. 

To watch:
• Online http://capitolaca.iqm2.com/Citizens/Default.aspx
• Spectrum Cable Television channel 8

To join Zoom:
• Join the Zoom Meeting with the following link: 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84270087098?pwd=bmVveEpuWDg3L3lpVElyelFTbDh3dz09
• If prompted for a passcode, enter 649133
• -OR- With a landline or mobile phone, call one of the following numbers:

o 1 669 900 6833
1 408 638 0968
1 346 248 7799

• Enter the meeting ID number: 842 7008 7098
• When prompted for a Participant ID, press #

To submit public comment: 
When submitting public comment, one comment (via phone or email, not both), per person, per 
item is allowed. If you send more than one email about the same item, the last received will be 
read. 

1. Zoom Meeting (Via Computer or Phone) Link:
A. IF USING COMPUTER: 
§ Use participant option to “raise hand” during the public comment period for 

the item you wish to speak on. Once unmuted, you will have up to 3 minutes 
to speak

A. IF CALLED IN OVER THE PHONE: 



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
March 11, 2021

City of Capitola Page 4 Updated 3/5/2021 2:48 PM

§ Press *9 on your phone to “raise your hand” when the mayor calls for public 
comment. Once unmuted, you will have up to 3 minutes to speak

1. Send Email: 
A. During the meeting, send comments via email to 

publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us  
§ Emailed comments on items will be accepted after the start of the meeting 

until the Mayor announces that public comment for that item is closed.
§ Emailed comments should be a maximum of 450 words, which corresponds 

to approximately 3 minutes of speaking time.
§ Each emailed comment will be read aloud for up to three minutes and/or 

displayed on a screen.
§ Emails received by publiccomment@ci.capitola.ca.us outside of the comment 

period outlined above will not be included in the record.

Note: Any person seeking to challenge a City Council decision made as a result of a proceeding in 
which, by law, a hearing is required to be given, evidence is required to be taken, and the discretion in 
the determination of facts is vested in the City Council, shall be required to commence that court action 
within ninety (90) days following the date on which the decision becomes final as provided in Code of 
Civil Procedure §1094.6. Please refer to code of Civil Procedure §1094.6 to determine how to calculate 
when a decision becomes “final.” Please be advised that in most instances the decision become “final” 
upon the City Council’s announcement of its decision at the completion of the public hearing. Failure to 
comply with this 90-day rule will preclude any person from challenging the City Council decision in 
court.

Notice regarding City Council: The City Council meets on the 2nd and 4th Thursday of each month 
at 7:00 p.m. (or in no event earlier than 6:00 p.m.), in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 
Capitola Avenue, Capitola.

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials: The City Council Agenda and the complete Agenda Packet 
are available for review on the City’s website: www.cityofcapitola.org and at Capitola City Hall prior to 
the meeting. Agendas are also available at the Capitola Post Office located at 826 Bay Avenue, 
Capitola. Need more information? Contact the City Clerk’s office at 831-475-7300.

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet: Pursuant to Government 
Code §54957.5, materials related to an agenda item submitted after distribution of the agenda packet 
are available for public inspection at the Reception Office at City Hall, 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, 
California, during normal business hours.

Americans with Disabilities Act: Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons 
with a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990. Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting 
in the City Council Chambers. Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 
due to a disability, please contact the City Clerk’s office at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting at 
831-475-7300. In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental sensitivities, attendees are 
requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products.

Televised Meetings: City Council meetings are cablecast “Live” on Charter Communications Cable TV 
Channel 8 and are recorded to be rebroadcasted at 8:00 a.m. on the Wednesday following the 
meetings and at 1:00 p.m. on Saturday following the first rebroadcast on Community Television of 
Santa Cruz County (Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25). Meetings are streamed “Live” on 
the City’s website at www.cityofcapitola.org by clicking on the Home Page link “Meeting 
Agendas/Videos.” Archived meetings can be viewed from the website at any time.



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF MARCH 11, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Proclaim March 2021 American Red Cross Month

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Red Cross Month- March 2021 

Report Prepared By:  Chloe Woodmansee
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

2.A

Packet Pg. 5



City of Capitola 

Mayor’s Proclamation 
Designating March 2021 as 
American Red Cross Month 

 
WHEREAS, each year in March, jurisdictions across the country recognize the American 

Red Cross for its humanitarian efforts during life’s emergencies, whether in Capitola, across the 

United States, or around the world. Their dedication touches millions of lives each year as they carry 

out the organization’s 140-year mission of preventing and alleviating suffering; and  

  WHEREAS, in 2020, local volunteers responded during the coronavirus pandemic and 

record-breaking disasters across the country to help those in need and donate blood when our 

country faced a severe blood shortage; and 

  WHEREAS, the Red Cross helped Santa Cruz families that were affected by the 2020 CZU 

August Complex Fire by supporting a mobile recovery center in Boulder Creek and providing needed 

supplies and resources, and Red Cross volunteers also helped 18 households affected by home fires 

in Santa Cruz County by addressing their urgent needs such as food, lodging, and recovery support; 

and  

  WHEREAS, Santa Cruz County families further relied on Central Coast Chapter volunteers 

for comfort and hope while coping with wildfires and floods. The Red Cross mobilized 100 disaster 

responders to assist and support more than 15,000 people who were evacuated in the Central Coast 

due to dangerously wet and windy storms. In the days following the evacuation orders, the Red Cross 

and their partners provided more than 1,200 total overnight stays in hotel accommodations for those 

who were displaced, provided 2,655 meals and snacks to those forced to evacuate their homes, and 

made more than 167 individual care contacts to support the mental health needs of those affected.  

WHEREAS, the Central Coast Chapter volunteers (253 from Santa Cruz) supported local 

families in other ways. Last year, the Red Cross made 10 homes safer in Santa Cruz County by 

installing 20 smoke alarms; over 1,350 county residents enrolled in health and safety training 

classes; and over 3,500 blood donations were made. Lastly, services were provided to 88 members of 

the armed forces; and 

WHEREAS, every day, people in our community depend on the American Red Cross and its 

volunteers, donors, and community partners. Their lifesaving work is vital to strengthening our 

community’s resilience. We recognize the volunteer heroes in Capitola and all those who support 

their work to prevent and alleviate human suffering in the face of emergencies. Now, nearly 200 

years since the birth of American Red Cross founder Clara Barton, we dedicate this month of March 

to all those who continue to advance her noble legacy. We ask others to join in their commitment to 

care for people in need and support the organization’s humanitarian mission; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Yvette Brooks, Mayor of Capitola, do hereby proclaim March 2021 

American Red Cross Month. 

 
 

 
Yvette Brooks, Mayor 

           Signed and sealed this 11th day of March, 2021 

2.A.1

Packet Pg. 6

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 R

ed
 C

ro
ss

 M
o

n
th

- 
M

ar
ch

 2
02

1 
  (

R
ed

 C
ro

ss
 M

o
n

th
)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF MARCH 11, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Consider the February 25, 2021, City Council Regular Meeting Minutes

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes.

DISCUSSION: Attached for Council review and approval are the minutes of the regular meeting 
on February 25, 2021. 

ATTACHMENTS:

1. 2-25-21 short draft

Report Prepared By:  Chloe Woodmansee
City Clerk

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.A

Packet Pg. 7



 

 

DRAFT CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING ACTION MINUTES 
THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 25, 2021 - 7 PM 

 
  CLOSED SESSION OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL – 5PM  

 

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

Mayor Brooks called the meeting to order at 5 p.m. 

Council Member Margaux Keiser: Remote, Council Member Jacques Bertrand: Remote, Vice Mayor Sam 
Storey: Remote, Council Member Kristen Petersen: Remote, Mayor Yvette Brooks: Remote. 
  
No members of the public were present, and the Council adjourned to the virtual meeting with the 
following items to be discussed in Closed Session: 

 
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS  

Gov’t Code § 54957.6 
            Negotiators: Algeria Ford, Larry Laurent  

Employee Organizations: (1) Association of Capitola Employees; (2) Police Captains;   
3) Mid-Management Group; (4) Department Heads; (5) Confidential Employees; (6) 
Capitola Police Officers Association; (7) City Manager  

 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL –  ANTICIPATED LITIGATION  

Gov’t Code §54956.9(d)(4). 

Initiation of litigation 
(One potential case) 

 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL - 7 PM 

 1. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 2. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Introduction of Central Fire Protection District New Fire Chief, John Walbridge 
 
Mayor Brooks introduced the new Fire Chief for the Central Fire District, John Walbridge. Chief Walbridge 
thanked Council for inviting him to present at the meeting and spoke briefly about the District expanding 
to include La Selva and Aptos. In response to a question from Council Member Bertrand, he said that 
headquarters will remain at its current 17th Avenue location.  
 

Mayor Brooks commented that she and Chief Walbridge will be conducting a virtual town hall meeting on 
March 15 at 6pm. Information on how to join is available on the City website.  

 3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION – council gave direction to staff  

 4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS – one for item 9.A, one for item 9.B 

 5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA – none  

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 8

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
5-

21
 s

h
o

rt
 d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
February 25, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 2 Updated 3/2/2021 10:12 AM 

 6. PUBLIC COMMENTS – none  

 7. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS 
 
City Manager Goldstein announced that Santa Cruz County has moved into Phase 1.B of the Vaccine 
Distribution Plan.  
 
Vice-Mayor Storey reported on his first meeting of the Monterey Bay Air Resources District board.  
 
Council Member Petersen reported on her attendance at the Criminal Justice Council meeting and said 
she would be participating in the Council’s Justice Policy subcommittee along with Capitola Police Chief 
McManus.  
 
Council Member Bertrand asked that staff coordinate with the Sanitation Board for a presentation. He also 
asked that Council be brought an item addressing how funds are allocated to nonprofits.  
 
Requested Items for Future Agendas:  
Sanitation Presentation (Bertrand)  
Community Grants/nonprofits allocation procedure overview (Bertrand)  

 

 8. CONSENT CALENDAR 

MOTION: APPROVE AND DETERMINE AS RECOMMENDED  

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Jacques Bertrand, Council Member 

SECONDER: Sam Storey, Vice Mayor 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

A. Consider the January 21, 2021, City Council Special and the February 11, 2021, City 
Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve minutes. 

B. Loma Vista Amendment 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve the second amendment to the Loma Vista 
regulatory agreement and declaration of restrictive covenants related to asset 
limitations. 

C. Receive Update on Pandemic Response 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Make the determination that all hazards related to the 
worldwide spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) as detailed in Resolution No. 4168 
adopted by the City Council on March 12, 2020, still exist and that there is a need to 
continue action. 

 9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS 

A. Review the Memorial Program 
RECOMMENDED Action: Provide direction.  

 
Assistant to the City Manager Laurent presented a staff report.  
 
Council Member Petersen asked about memorial pricing; Assistant Laurent explained that 
plaques and benches have different prices, but the price is not based on the location of the 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 9

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
5-

21
 s

h
o

rt
 d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
February 25, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 3 Updated 3/2/2021 10:12 AM 

memorial. Council Member Petersen confirmed that the Village bricks are a Chamber project, 
recommended that the bricks be mentioned as secondary memorial option, and asked for more 
information about the painted tiles along the Esplanade Seawall.  
 
Vice-Mayor Storey asked if memorials are bought in perpetuity. Assistant Laurent explained that 
the memorials remain as long as they are functional; if a bench or location needs to be retired, 
the “owners” of the memorial are given the option to replace it and if they chose not to, a lottery 
process is used to allow for a new memorial in the same location. Vice-Mayor Storey also asked if 
plaques must be placed eight feet apart; this is the standard width and is not always followed.  
 
City Manager Goldstein added that the locations identified in the report may be more temporary 
than the plaques themselves, as they are brass and last nearly forever.  
 
Mayor Brooks asked if the Art and Cultural Commission had been involved in the memorial 
program before. Assistant Laurent said that if Council was interested in a more artistic 
interpretation of the memorial program, the Commission could participate.  
 
There was no public comment.  
  
Council Member Keiser said that the Prospect Bluff park would be a desirable location for 
memorials, and that she would like the program to continue.  
 
Council Member Petersen said that the wooden railing on Cliff Avenue in the Depot Hill 
neighborhood seemed reasonable and suggested using the wall near the Upper Esplanade but 
with a warning to those in the program that this option may not be permanent due to the 
elements. She also requested that the Art and Cultural Commission be asked to perhaps find 
another location for a painted tile project like the one on the seawall.  
 
Vice-Mayor Storey asked that the distance between plaques be less than eight feet to make room 
for more. He also commented that no matter how many new spaces are made available, 
eventually the program will be full. He asked staff to consider the longer-term future of the 
program so that new people can eventually benefit if so desired.  
 
Council Member Bertrand commented that the multiple memorial wall idea is pleasing because it 
would combine different styles and honor many families in one place, emphasizing community.   
 
Mayor Brooks asked that Rispin Park be a considered location for a multiple memorial wall. She 
reiterated the idea of partnering with the Chamber, if possible.  
 
Council Member Petersen commented that the BIA and local restaurants with ocean views may 
also want to get involved and offer locations for customer memorials.   

 

MOTION:  DIRECT STAFF TO 1) CONTINUE THE PROGRAM; 2) INVESITIGATE 
NEW LOCATIONS TO EXPAND, EMPHASIZING THE WALL ON UPPER 
ESPLANADE AND CLIFF AVENUE IN DEPOT HILL; AND 3) 
INVESTIGATE OPTIONS FOR A MULTIPLE MEMORIAL 
WALL/INSTALLATION  

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Kristen Petersen 

SECONDER: Sam Storey 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

B. Consider Fiscal Year 2021-22 Budget Principles and Goals [330-05] 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt the Fiscal Year 2021-22 budget principles and 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 10

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
5-

21
 s

h
o

rt
 d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
February 25, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 4 Updated 3/2/2021 10:12 AM 

goals, and identify related key projects and programs. 
 
City Manager Goldstein presented a staff report.  
 
Council Members affirmed their priorities based on the presentation’s list of principals/goals 
created in early 2020 as shown below:  

 
In addition, Council Members prioritized the following:   
 
Council Members Bertrand and Petersen: Community Grant funding, and updates to the way 
funding is allocated.  
 
Council agreed that the future of outdoor dining in the Village and developing a potential parklet 
program is important. Vice-Mayor Storey prioritized this topic along with a discussion of City 
parking programs and the Village meter rates. Council Member Petersen asked that a discussion 
of outdoor dining’s future be prioritized separately and as more critical than a discussion of all 
parking programs and the Village meter rates.  
 
Vice-Mayor Storey: COVID response as a continued priority.  
 
Council agreed on partnering with the City of Scotts Valley for Summer Recreation programs.  

 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 11

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
5-

21
 s

h
o

rt
 d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
February 25, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 5 Updated 3/2/2021 10:12 AM 

MOTION: APPROVE LISTED BUDGET PRIORITIES, EXCLUDING 1) THE FUTURE 
OF OUTDOOR DINING ALONG WITH PARKING PROGRAMS; AND 2) 
THE FUTURE OF OUTDOOR DINING SEPARATE FROM PARKING 
PROGRAMS, AND 3) PARKING PROGRAMS  

MOVER: Kristen Petersen 

SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand 

OUTCOME:  AMENDED AS BELOW  

 
Council Members added the priorities below:  
 
Vice-Mayor Storey: Park Avenue traffic and speed. 
 
Council Member Bertrand: 1) the Eucalyptus grove at Kennedy and Park Avenue be checked, 
and 2) picnic tables be added at Monterey Park.  
 
Council Member Keiser: 1) directional signs in the Parking Lots, and 2) a BIA directory.  
 
Mayor Brooks: 1) implicit bias training for City staff, and 2) investigation into partnerships for 
affordable housing opportunities at the Capitola Mall Project.  

 

MOTION: APPROVE LISTED BUDGET PRIORITIES INCLUDING THE FURTHER 
ITEMS ADDED BY COUNCIL (LISTED ABOVE), EXCLUDING 1) THE 
FUTURE OF OUTDOOR DINING ALONG WITH PARKING PROGRAMS; 
AND 2) THE FUTURE OF OUTDOOR DINING SEPARATE FROM 
PARKING PROGRAMS, AND 3) PARKING PROGRAMS  

RESULT:  [4 TO 1] 

MOVER: Kristen Petersen 

SECONDER: Jacques Bertrand 

AYES: Bertrand, Keiser, Petersen, Brooks 

NAYS: Sam Storey  

C. Approve Contract Change Order No. 12 for the Capitola Branch Library Project 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report and approve Contract Change Order 12 
with Otto Construction for the Capitola Branch Library Project in the total amount of 
$582,402. 

 
Public Works Director Jesberg presented the staff report.  
 
There was no public comment.  

 

MOTION:  APPROVE CHANGE ORDER NO. 12 

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Jacques Bertrand 

SECONDER: Margaux Keiser 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

D. Adopt Resolution Approving a Community Development Block Grant-Coronavirus #2 
Application 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt the two proposed resolutions authorizing the City 
Manager to submit a Community Development Block Grant Coronavirus Response 
(CDBG-CV) application requesting up to $330,261 of CDBG-CV round 2 and 3 grant 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 12

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
5-

21
 s

h
o

rt
 d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
February 25, 2021 

City of Capitola Page 6 Updated 3/2/2021 10:12 AM 

funds for COVID-19 related relief programs and to execute the grant agreement 
upon award.   

 
Community Development Director Herlihy presented the background on past CDBG guidance; 
then introduced Paul Ashby who presented on the second round of CDBG-CV grant funding.  
 
Vice-Mayor Storey asked for clarification regarding the proposed resolution. Mr. Ashby clarified 
that the proposed resolutions regard the general NOFA for CDBG funding, not the previous 
CDBG funding provided under the CARES Act.  
 
Councilmember Petersen confirmed the total funding would be for $320,000.  
 
Mayor Brooks asked about economic development. In response to her question about CIP 
projects, Director Herlihy replied that advice was given against this potential funding use, as so 
many CIP applications were received by CDBG the City is unlikely to be awarded for this use.  
 
There was no public comment.  

 

MOTION: ADOPT THE PROPOSED RESOLUTIONS, BRING THIS TOPIC BACK TO 
COUNCIL BEFORE APRIL 30 TO DISCUSS ROUND 2 & 3 FUND 
ALLOCATION.  

RESULT: ADOPTED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Kristen Petersen  

SECONDER: Margaux Keiser 

AYES: Bertrand, Petersen, Storey, Brooks, Keiser 

 10. ADJOURNMENT 
 The meeting was closed at 10:23pm.  

 

   _____________________ 
    Yvette Brooks, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________ 
Chloé Woodmansee, City Clerk 

8.A.1

Packet Pg. 13

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
5-

21
 s

h
o

rt
 d

ra
ft

  (
A

p
p

ro
ve

 C
o

u
n

ci
l M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF MARCH 11, 2021

FROM: Finance Department

SUBJECT: Approval of City Check Registers Dated February 5, February 12, February 19 
and February 26, 2021

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve check registers.

Account: City Main

Date Starting Check # Ending Check #
Payment 

Count
Amount

2/5/2021 97314 97362 55 $     752,922.99

2/12/2021 97363 97397 39 $         85,008.23

2/19/2021 97398 97449 57 $       158,319.72

2/26/2021 97450 97482 34 $         45,049.58

The main account check register dated January 29, 2021, ended with check #97313.

Account: Library

Date
Starting 

Check/EFT #
Ending 

Check/EFT #
Payment 

Count
Amount

2/5/2021 244 244 1 $       1,680.00

2/12/2021 245 245 1 $           1,300.00

2/19/2021 246 249 4 $       298,007.85

2/26/2021 251 251 1 $              510.00

The library account check register dated January 29, 2021, ended with check #243.  Check 
#250 was voided due to a printer jam.

Account: Payroll

Date
Starting 

Check/EFT #
Ending 

Check/EFT #
Payment 

Count
Amount

2/12/2021 16350 16447 100 $       167,430.34

2/26/2021 16448 16538 91 $       158,706.78

The payroll account check register dated January 29, 2021, ended with EFT #16349. 

Following is a list of payments issued for more than $10,000 and descriptions of the expenditures:

Check/
EFT

Issued to Dept Description Amount

8.B

Packet Pg. 14



Approval of City Check Registers 
March 11, 2021

97314 MBASIA CM
Workers’ comp. & liability 

insurance (check re-issued)
$ 472,852.50

97350 Santa Cruz County Bank FN Pacific Cove financing lease $   82,532.87

1075 CalPERS Health FN February health insurance $   57,949.65

1076
CalPERS Member 

Services
FN

PERS contributions PPE 
1/23/21

$   52,285.30

1078 IRS FN
Federal taxes & Medicare PPE 

1/23/21
$   26,364.18

97388 Santa Cruz Animal Shelter PD Quarterly contribution $   13,936.80

1083 Voya Financial FN
Employee 457 contribution 

final paycheck
$   19,500.00

97401 American Traffic Solutions PD
July – December red light 

revenue
$   10,956.69

97426 Pacific Gas & Electric PW Gas & electricity $   14,014.00

1085
CalPERS Member 

Services
FN

PERS contributions PPE 
2/6/21

$   52,310.19

1087 IRS FN
Federal taxes & Medicare PPE 

2/6/21
$   26,226.81

247 John F. Otto Inc. Escrow PW January library retainer $   13,396.24

248 Noll and Tam Architects PW
Library public art, donor 

recognition, landscape & site 
changes

$   29,958.01

249 Otto Construction Inc. PW January library construction $ 254,528.60

97472 Moffatt and Nichol PW
Wharf design & permitting, 

jetty/flume bid support & specs
$   17,182.12

ATTACHMENTS:

1. 2-5-21 Check Register
2. 2-12-21 Check Register
3. 2-19-21 Check Register
4. 2-26-21 Check Register

Report Prepared By:  Mark Sullivan
Senior Accountant

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.B

Packet Pg. 15



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 16

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-5
-2

1 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 17

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-5
-2

1 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 18

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-5
-2

1 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 19

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-5
-2

1 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 20

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-5
-2

1 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 21

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-5
-2

1 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.1

Packet Pg. 22

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-5
-2

1 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.2

Packet Pg. 23

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
2-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.2

Packet Pg. 24

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
2-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.2

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
2-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.2

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
2-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.2

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
2-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.2

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
2-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.3

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-1
9-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.4

Packet Pg. 37

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
6-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.4

Packet Pg. 38

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
6-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.4

Packet Pg. 39

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
6-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.4

Packet Pg. 40

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
6-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



8.B.4

Packet Pg. 41

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

-2
6-

21
 C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
r 

 (
A

p
p

ro
va

l o
f 

C
it

y 
C

h
ec

k 
R

eg
is

te
rs

)



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF MARCH 11, 2021

FROM: Community Development

SUBJECT: Approve Contract with Carolyn Flynn for Professional Services Related to 
Affordable Housing Programs 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve an amendment to the existing sole source contract 
($24,940) with Carolyn Flynn for an additional $10,150 not to exceed $35,090 for Fiscal Year 
2020-2021 for assistance with affordable housing programs.  

BACKGROUND: Carolyn Flynn has provided consulting assistance to the City’s Community 
Development Department covering a wide range of grant administration activities, affordable 
housing administration, and economic development. From January 2013 to June 2017, Ms. 
Flynn provided professional management of the City’s Affordable Housing Program. This 
included handling the re-sale and monitoring of deed-restricted affordable units, administration 
of active affordable housing loans, and oversight of regulatory agreements with the owners of 
deed-restricted affordable housing projects and mobile home parks in the City. 

After 2017, Ms. Flynn’s role changed to provide guidance to City staff members administering 
the City’s affordable housing program. In January 2020, the development service technician, 
who administered the City’s affordable housing program, retired and this position was frozen as 
part of the budget adjustments related to COVID-19. In the interim, the City’s Associate Planner 
has been administering the City’s affordable housing program with guidance from Carolyn 
Flynn. 

DISCUSSION: Ms. Flynn has provided training and administration services during the past year 
in absence of the City’s Development Service Technician. The 2020/2021 contract with Ms. 
Flynn for $24,940 currently has a balance of $2,827.50. The contract funds are likely to be fully 
utilized in the next 30 to 60 days. Staff is requesting an increase of $10,150 to the contract for 
professional services to cover the rest of Fiscal Year 2020/21 in an amount not to exceed 
$35,090. 

The existing contract is a standard form City contract for professional services, as approved by 
the City Attorney. The current contract includes the following services: 

• Affordable Housing Program management and training for new staff
• As-needed professional back-up and assistance

Staff is proposing an addition service be added to the contract: the preparation of an affordable 
housing administrative procedures manual. This manual will assist staff in administering the 

8.C

Packet Pg. 42



Amendment to Carolyn Flynn Contract 
March 11, 2021

City’s affordable housing program. Ms. Flynn expects this service to take approximately 30 
hours. The manual will contain the following:

• Update written procedures for the City’s affordable housing program, including procedures for 
inclusionary housing, annual occupancy requirements, and loan balance mailings; 

• Draft procedures for affordable housing loans, lending, processing, and payoffs/
• Draft procedures for City monitoring of regulatory agreements at affordable projects, 
• Sales process at affordable mobile home parks and Habitat (38th & Brommer), and other 

procedures as identified

The contract is a sole source contract because Ms. Flynn has unique knowledge of the City’s 
Affordable Housing Program and Community Development Department, which provides her with 
the required experience that no other consultant can provide without first spending a significant 
amount of time learning the City’s financial processes, existing regulatory agreements, and 
existing affordable housing projects.

FISCAL IMPACT: Funding for this contract is available in the restricted Housing Successor 
Agency Program Income Fund. If approved a budget amendment in the amount of $10,150 is
included with the mid-year budget report; a later item on this same agenda. 

Report Prepared By:  Katie Herlihy
Community Development Director

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.C

Packet Pg. 43



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF MARCH 11, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Receive Update on Pandemic Response

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 1) Approve the proposed resolution ratifying Emergency Order 1-
2021, rescinding Emergency Orders 1-2020 and 2-2020, and 2) make the determination that all 
hazards related to the worldwide spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) as detailed in 
Resolution No. 4168 adopted by the City Council on March 12, 2020, still exist and that there is 
a need to continue action.

BACKGROUND: In December 2019, an outbreak of a respiratory illness linked to the novel 
coronavirus (COVID-19) was first identified. In March 2020, the state of California, the County of 
Santa Cruz, and the City of Capitola each declared a state of emergency due to the virus. Also 
in March, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. 

Since March 2020, State and local health officers have issued health orders to stop the spread 
of COVID-19; in Santa Cruz County this included March, April, and May Shelter-In-Place orders 
that were more restrictive than statewide guidance. Since then, the County Health Officer has 
incorporated all Orders of the State Public Health Officer, which set baseline statewide 
restrictions on travel and non-residential business activities. 

Blueprint for a Safer Economy & Local Tier Status

On August 28, 2020, the State Monitoring List was replaced by the Blueprint for a Safer 
Economy. In this new system, every county in California is assigned to a tier based on its rate of 
new COVID-19 cases and positivity. The tiers, from most restrictive to least, are: Purple-
Widespread; Red- Substantial; Orange- Moderate; and Yellow- Minimal. 

At the start of this system on August 31, Santa Cruz County was placed in the Purple-
Widespread tier. Originally, tier assignments were announced weekly, on Tuesdays. Since the 
surge in November, the California Department of Public Health (CDPH) has said that tier 
assignments may be announced at any time and could occur more than once a week. The table 
below shows where Santa Cruz County has fallen within the tier system since its 
implementation. 

Date Tier Assignment Weeks in Tier

August 31 Widespread Tier Two 

8.D

Packet Pg. 44



COVID-19 Emergency- Update 21 & Emergency Order 
March 11, 2021

September 8 Substantial Tier Seven 

October 27 Moderate Tier Two 

November 10 Substantial Tier Two 

November 16 Widespread Tier Fifteen + 

As of March 5, 40 California Counties are in the Purple-Widespread tier, 16 Counties are in the 
Substantial-Red tier, and two are in the Moderate-Orange tier. Our neighboring San Mateo and 
Santa Clara Counties are in the Substantial-Red tier, though Monterey County remains in the 
same Purple-Widespread tier as Santa Cruz. 

Santa Cruz County Restrictions 

On January 25, 2021, Governor Newsom announced that the Regional Stay-Home Order had 
ended for the entire state. The Blueprint for a Safer Economy orders remain in place, and Santa 
Cruz County remains within the Purple Widespread tier. Although the Regional Stay-Home 
Order is no longer in effect, all individuals living within the State of California are currently 
ordered to stay home or at their place of residence, except for permitted work, local shopping or 
other permitted errands, or as otherwise authorized. 

Local Case Numbers and Statistics

As of March 5, there are 14,760 known COVID-19 cases in Santa Cruz County; of these known 
cases 409 are in the City of Capitola. There have been 187 deaths due to COVID-19 in our 
County.

In Santa Cruz County, the rate of new cases per day per 100k is at 10.7, with an adjusted case 
rate for tier assignment of 8.6. There is an overall positivity rate of 2.9%. For a county to move 
forward into the Red-Substantial tier, the rate of new cases needs to be less than 7 per 100k.

Vaccine & Testing Status 

As of March 1, there have been 84,809 vaccine doses administered to Santa Cruz County 
residents. The County is now in Phase 1.B of the Vaccine Distribution Plan and is using a 
limited weekly supply to vaccinate individuals 65 and older along with workers in education, 
childcare, food and agriculture, fire, law enforcement, and emergency services. All members of 
the Capitola Police Department that wanted to be vaccinated have received both vaccine doses.
As of March 4, many Out-of-School Time workers were scheduled for their first dose, who
qualify for vaccines in Phase 1.B as “workers in education, childcare”. Other City staff members 
qualify as emergency service workers and will be vaccinated on a voluntary basis as the County
and individual healthcare providers’ supplies allow. 

The City continues to offer onsite COVID-19 rapid-testing clinic to all employees and insured 
household members, through the private company Virtual Hearing Solutions. The clinics are 
strictly for those without symptoms to reduce asymptomatic spread and are offered on a 
voluntary basis. Regular testing has taken place on Thursdays for the last three weeks, and 
staff plans to continue scheduling the onsite rapid tests on a weekly basis, at least until most 
City employees have received their full round of COVID-19 vaccine doses, or interest in testing 
wains.

8.D

Packet Pg. 45



COVID-19 Emergency- Update 21 & Emergency Order 
March 11, 2021

DISCUSSION: Due to the City, County, and State’s emergency declarations, City departments 
continue to implement strategies to protect the community and employees while maintaining 
essential levels of service to the public. 

City Emergency Orders

As part of the City of Capitola’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, City Manager Goldstein, 
acting as the City’s Director of Emergency Services, issued six emergency orders in 2020. Of 
the six, only Emergency Order 6-2020, which closed Capitola Beach for Labor Day weekend, 
clearly “expired”. Three of the orders, Emergency Orders 2-2020, 3-2020, and 4-2020 (which 
allow for curbside pickup, outdoor dining, and fines for not wearing facial coverings, 
respectively) remain in effect now and for the foreseeable future. The two other orders have not 
technically expired but are not being currently enforced due to specific Council action or 
subsequent County Health Orders. 

Emergency Order 1-2020 was issued on April 2 and ratified by City Council with Resolution No. 
4170 on April 9, 2020. The order limits the allowed parking time in Capitola Village, closes the 
Upper and Lower Pacific Cove Parking Lots to the public, and prohibits shade structures on 
Capitola Beach. On May 28, 2020, Council included the removal of said parking restrictions 
during the same motion that directed staff to allow for outdoor dining activities in Capitola 
Village. The prohibition of shade structures on Capitola Beach was not addressed. 

Emergency Order 2-2020 was issued on April 16 and ratified by City Council with Resolution No 
4172 on April 23, 2020. The order closes McGregor Park and Skatepark, an action taken to 
remain consistent with other Santa Cruz County Cities that closed their skateparks. Around the 
time Santa Cruz County Health issued the June 25 health order removing Countywide beach 
restrictions, the City of Capitola opened all parks to the public, including McGregor Park and 
Skatepark. 

To provide clarification and bring our records up to date with current health orders and best
practices, Staff recommends the adoption of the proposed resolution ratifying attached 
Emergency Order 1-2021. Emergency Order 1-2021 officially rescinds Emergency Orders 1-
2020 and 2-2020, as they are no longer necessary within the City of Capitola. 

If major changes occur between the date of agenda publication and the City Council meeting, 
further updates on the regional and local coronavirus response can be provided in a verbal 
report at the meeting. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Fiscal impacts from the pandemic have been accounted for in the updated FY 
20/21 Budget. Those impacts are being reviewed on a quarterly basis by the City Council. In 
addition, the City Council has set aside $600,000 to help ensure the City has available 
resources should the pandemic result in further unforeseen impacts. The next scheduled budget 
review is an item on this agenda. 

Report Prepared By:  Chloe Woodmansee
City Clerk

8.D

Packet Pg. 46



COVID-19 Emergency- Update 21 & Emergency Order 
March 11, 2021

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

8.D

Packet Pg. 47



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF MARCH 11, 2021

FROM: City Manager Department

SUBJECT: Recreation Report and Update on Summer 2021 Programs

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive report regarding recent Recreation Division activity and 
planned summer programs, including the new proposed Capitola Family Camp. 

BACKGROUND: Typically, the City provides a class programs out of Jade Street Community 
Center on a variety of topics, including fitness and arts, which primarily served adults and 
seniors. Seasonally the City provides a Junior Guard program to 1,000 participants, Camp 
Capitola to 550 participants, and in partnership with Soquel Union Elementary School District 
(SUESD) an afterschool program located at New Brighton Middle School. In FY19/20, 
Recreation planned new opportunities for the community with Food Truck events and Winter 
Movies at the Community Center. In March of 2020, the City’s Recreation Division made 
significant modifications to programs offered due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

DISCUSSION: With the onset of the pandemic, many community services were interrupted, 
however the Recreation Division adapted quickly. In April of 2020, the City offered online 
classes as an alternative to in-person classes. Staff time was allocated to phone support for 
participants who were challenged by the Zoom platform, and to create a virtual community 
center experience. Currently the online class program provides to more than 240 participants 
monthly. 

In the summer of 2020, the City provided modified Junior Guard and Camp Capitola programs 
which conformed to COVID-19 guidance and served nearly 600 participants. The City’s Junior 
Guard program was one only six programs in the State that successfully operated a modified in-
person program. 

As the 2020 school year approached, the City partnered with Soquel Union Elementary School 
District (SUESD) and Shorelife Community Church to offer Out-of-School Time (OST) program, 
a distance learning support and recreation activity program. OST operates five stable groups 
(pods) to SUESD students. In September of 2020, the City entered a partnership with Santa 
Cruz County Parks to access additional funding and provide a more affordable fee to families 
enrolled in OST. 

In partnership with Capitola-Soquel Chamber of Commerce, the City hosted a Halloween Car 
Cruise. The Halloween Cruise offered a COVID safe alternative to more traditional Halloween 
events, encouraging families to decorate their car and join a cruise led by the Capitola Police 
Department. The cruise started at the Capitola Mall and ended at Jade Street Community 
Center where participants received a trick or treat bag for each child. 

9.A

Packet Pg. 48



Summer 2021 Recreation Update 
March 11, 2021

One of the consistent challenges in providing recreation service to the community during the 
pandemic is the short decision timelines required by the frequently changing COVID guidance. 
The Division recently completed an art contest offered in partnership with the Capitola Art and 
Cultural Commission titled “Reflections of 2020”. The first phase of this contest was conducted 
via digital gallery, and division winners were chosen by judges. The second phase was a 
socially distanced public display, with a viewing held on March 6, 2021. The public voted for the 
overall “best in show” from each division’s top-place art piece. The art contest’s second phase 
was postponed due to the Regional Stay-Home Order. The City will also host a COVID safe 
Easter event in partnership with the Capitola-Soquel Chamber of Commerce. The City will also 
host a COVID safe Easter event in partnership with the Capitola-Soquel Chamber of 
Commerce. 

During Summer 2021 the City will again offer a modified program model for Junior Guards and 
Camp Capitola. While Staff is hopeful that some restrictions will lessen as we get closer to the 
summer months, the City is prepared to offer programs that adhere to existing COVID guidance. 
Junior Guards will again operate in two-week sessions to provide for as many participants as 
possible. This summer, there will be morning and afternoon options thereby doubling the 
capacity provided last summer. Camp Capitola will operate as it did last summer, providing a full 
day camp program. 

Also for this summer, Staff proposes a new COVID-safe City of Capitola Family Camp. Family 
Camp would operate August 6 – August 9, 2021 at a Staff identified retreat-center about three 
hours away from Capitola in the foothills of the Sierras. Families will be able to book a room or 
cabin, with beds to accommodate up to ten people per room to serve a variety of family sizes. 
Food is provided by the retreat center, which operates under its own COVID-19 guidance. Safe 
social and community building recreation actives would be provided by Staff in accordance with 
COVID guidance.

This new camp can be operated consistent with COVID guidance. The necessary promotion 
timeline would start registration on April 15, 2021 and need the minimum number of participants 
for operation to register by June 21, 2021. If the minimum number of participants do not register 
by the deadline, then then event will be canceled and no longer included in the FY21/22 budget. 
Additionally, Family Camp will not operate if conditions place Santa Cruz County in the Purple 
Tier in August. 

The conceptual fee structure for the Family Camp will allow the City to offer this program on a 
revenue neutral, or better basis. The specific fee schedule for Capitola Family Camp will be 
brought to Council for consideration at the March 25 meeting. 

FISCAL IMPACT: Junior Guard and Camp Capitola have approved budgets for this fiscal year. 
A budget for Family Camp will be included in the proposed FY 21/22 Budget. 

Report Prepared By:  Nikki Bryant Bryant LeBlond
Recreation Supervisor

9.A

Packet Pg. 49



Summer 2021 Recreation Update 
March 11, 2021

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.A

Packet Pg. 50



CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
AGENDA REPORT

MEETING OF MARCH 11, 2021

FROM: Finance Department

SUBJECT: Fiscal Year 2020-21 Mid-Year Budget Update

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Receive Fiscal Year 2020-21 Mid-Year Budget Update and adopt 
the proposed resolution amending the Fiscal Year 2020-21 Budget.

BACKGROUND: The Fiscal Year (FY) 2020-21 mid-year budget report provides an update on 
the City’s financial status as of December 31, 2020 and recommends budget adjustments for FY 
2020-21 that better reflect current projections. 

At the on-set of the Coronavirus Pandemic (COVID-19), staff projected major declines in sales 
tax, transient occupancy tax (TOT), recreation, and parking revenues for the fourth quarter of 
FY 2019-20 and all of FY 2020-21. The projected revenue shortfall in FY 2019-20 was $2.4
million and the shortfall in FY 2020-21 was estimated to be $4 million. Additionally, the planned 
FY 2020-21 budget included $449,000 of expenditures more than revenues, making the total FY 
2020-21 budget gap approximately $4.5 million. To close the budget gap, the City eliminated all 
non-essential expenditures and froze six vacant positions. 

DISCUSSION: To date, general fund revenues during COVID-19 have performed better than
originally anticipated, which appears consistent with most jurisdictions around the State. Sales 
tax, TOT, and parking revenues are performing better than anticipated, though revenue from 
recreation programs continue to lag behind projections. In addition, the City has received
$124,805 in CARES Act funding to assist with COVID-19 related expenses.

Staff originally projected a general fund balance of approximately $151,000 for June 30, 2020; 
however due to better than anticipated revenue receipts during the fourth quarter of FY 2019-
20, staff revised that estimate to $679,000 in September. Additionally, City Council approved 
increasing the general fund revenue budget by $445,734 and the expenditure budget by 
$32,000 following a review of the ending FY 2019-20 budget vs. actual amounts. Following a 
review of the First Quarter FY 2020-21 budget vs. actual performance in December 2020, City 
Council approved a second budget amendment increasing general fund revenues by $1.2 
million and expenditures by $767,000 to better reflect actual operations.

Now that staff has data for the first half of the fiscal year’s general fund activities, staff
recommends small budget amendments to the general fund; increasing sales tax revenue by 
$187,500 and decreasing cannabis tax revenue by the same amount (as listed in the proposed 
resolution’s Attachment 1). If the budget amendments are approved as presented, the estimated 
ending general fund balance on June 30, 2021, will be approximately $1.45 million. It should be 
noted that on December 10, City Council, following the recommendation of the Finance 

9.B

Packet Pg. 51



2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update 
March 11, 2021

Advisory Committee (FAC), set aside $600,000 in the general fund as a stabilization account to 
smooth out negative fiscal impacts associated with COVID-19. Those funds remain set aside 
within the general fund, leaving an available estimated ending fund balance of approximately 
$850,000. During their meeting on February 23, the FAC briefly discussed possible uses for the
set-aside $600,000 and ultimately recommended City Council keep the funds set aside at this 
time. 

Sales Tax:

The FY 2020-21 adopted budget included approximately $6.3 million of sales tax revenue. Due 
to COVID-19, this estimate was reduced from $8 million in the prior year, representing a 
reduction of $1.7 million (or approximately 21%).

Staff had budgeted $1,706,334 of sales tax revenue for the first quarter of FY 2020-21, which 
was reduced from the prior year’s $2,250,000. Actual sales tax revenue received totaled 
$1,980,046 compared to $2,024,933 in the prior year. Since sales tax revenue was basically flat 
compared to the prior year and approximately 16% above budget, City Council approved 
increasing the sales tax revenue budget by $700,245 to roughly 10% below the prior year. This
allowed the City to add some resources back to the budget while maintaining a conservative 
approach to deal with the ongoing fiscal impacts associated with COVID-19.

We have now received sales tax revenue through December 31, 2020 and while revenues are 
down approximately 5.8% from the prior year, they are about $193,800 (5.1%) above the 
amended FY 2020-21 mid-year budgeted amount of $3.8 million. This allows us to increase the 
sales tax revenue budget by $187,500 or 93.25% of the prior year budgeted amount to offset 
the reduction to cannabis business tax revenues which is performing at about 50% of the 
budgeted amount through the first half of the fiscal year.

Transient Occupancy Tax (TOT): 

The FY 2020-21 adopted budget included $475,801 of TOT revenue. Due to COVID-19 this 
estimate was reduced from approximately $1.6 million in the prior year, representing a shortfall 
of $1.2 million or 71%. 

Due to the performance of TOT revenues in the first few months following the start of the 
pandemic, City Council approved amending the FY 2020-21 TOT revenue budget in September 
to equal 50% of the originally budgeted amount in FY 2019-20. This increased the FY 2020-21 
TOT revenue budget from $475,801 to $796,300 (an increase of $320,929). Following the 
review of first quarter TOT performance, City Council approved a second budget amendment of 
$351,731 bringing the total FY 2020-21 TOT revenue budget to roughly 70% of the prior year’s
budgeted amount.

Through the first half of FY 2020-21, the City has received a total of $748,916 (or approximately 
66%) of the amended budgeted amount of $1,129,860. This compares to $921,270 of TOT 
revenue during the same period in the prior year and represents an approximately 19% 
decrease. Staff is not requesting a budget amendment currently as we believe that the better 
than anticipated performance is due to warmer than normal weather combined with remote work 
and distance learning, all allowing for travel despite the pandemic. As COVID-19 vaccines are 
distributed to more of the population, people begin returning to work, and schools open staff 
does not anticipate the same influx of spontaneous visitors during warm weather periods in the 
spring months.

Parking Revenue:

9.B

Packet Pg. 52



2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update 
March 11, 2021

The FY 2020-21 adopted budget included $428,963 of parking revenue representing a 50% 
reduction from the prior year’s budgeted amount. Actual parking revenue received in the first 
quarter of FY 2020-21 was approximately 20% below the same period in the prior year and at 
the mid-year point is roughly 18% below the prior year amounts. During the review of FY 2020-
21 parking revenue performance in December 2020 the City Council approved increasing the 
budget by $214,481 for a total budget of $643,444 equal to 75% of the prior year adopted 
budget. Staff is not requesting a budget update as the City continues to see reduced parking 
revenues associated with outdoor dining parklets as well as multiple construction projects that 
are decreasing available parking spaces within the Village.

Recreation Fees:  

The Recreation Division was able to offer modified Junior Guard and Camp Capitola programs 
in Summer 2020 as well as the ongoing Out-of-School Time (OST) program. City Council 
received a recreation report and update on summer 2021 programs earlier this evening and
staff anticipates returning to Council within the next few weeks to provide an additional update
to the programs, with possible budget and fee schedule amendments at that time.

Coronavirus Relief Package

The Federal Government is working on the latest COVID-19 relief package which originally
included approximately $1.86 million for the City of Capitola. The House of Representatives 
passed the bill on February 27. The bill must now be passed by the Senate and could be signed 
into law as soon as March 14. The original bill included $130 billion for local governments; with 
$65 billion allocated though the modified CDBG formula for both entitlement communities (+50k 
population) and non-entitlement communities (-50k population) and $65 billion expected to be 
available as direct payments. The $65 billion of direct payments have no minimum population 
thresholds, no deadline for spending funds, can be used for replacing lost revenue, and can be 
transferred between jurisdictions or to non-profit partners. 

Staff has heard that the funding to cities may be reduced by $10 billion, and allowable 
expenditures are still being negotiated in the Senate. Many changes could occur prior to the bill 
being passed into law; however, it does seem probable that the City will receive significantly 
more in this round of relief funding than was received from the CARES Act in 2020. The FAC 
discussed this proposed federal relief package and has committed to holding a special meeting 
for further discussion once details, such as funding amounts and allowable uses, are known. 

Community Grants 

Due to the significant projected revenue decreases due to COVID-19, the City Council approved 
the fiscal year 2020-21 budget with no funding for the Community Grant program. Staff has 
been working to secure other funding sources for some of the past grantees, including with the 
Community Development and Block Grant (CDBG) CARES Act funding. 

In the past, the City of Capitola Community Grant program has funded more than thirty 
programs at more than twenty agencies with the general fund, and another eight programs with
the dedicated Transitory Occupancy Tax Early Childhood and Youth Program (ECYP). In Fiscal 
Year 2019-20, the general fund expenditure for the program was approximately $222,000 and 
the ECYP funding was $28,633. Community Grantees last received a City payment in June 
2020.

In February 2020, the City Council received a report from Optimal Solutions Consulting for 
recommendations on improving the Community Grant program. Council approved the 

9.B

Packet Pg. 53



2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update 
March 11, 2021

incremental change approach and directed staff to:

• Revise the application,

• Develop a data-driven process,

• Review the allocation and reporting,

• Align priorities and perhaps work with other funders.

Staff was in the process of revising the Community Grant funds application when the COVID-19 
pandemic began. Staff has not created a detailed timeline to implement the remainder of the 
changes due to the uncertainty of the program. On February 25, 2021 City Council established 
a goal for Fiscal Year 2021-22 to complete the strategic review of the City’s community grant 
program. Staff anticipates bringing future items to Council to begin that process.

At the February 25, 2021 City Council meeting, Councilmembers Petersen and Bertrand 
requested that funding for community grants for the 2020-21 Fiscal Year be brought back to 
Council as part of the mid-year budget for consideration.

Some prior Community Grant recipients will be funded through the CDBG CARES Act process. 
Round one is expected to be funded in March.  The City is currently applying for Round 2 and 3.  
The following table includes the grant recipient and corresponding CDBG grant amount:

Activity Subrecipient 1st Round 
Award

2nd Round 
Award

Total 
Award

Public service – Mortgage
Assistance

Community Action Board $20,000 $20,000

Public Service - Food Community Bridges –
Meals on Wheels / 
Lift Line

$66,924 $15,000 $81,924

Public Service - Food Grey Bears $15,750 $15,000 $30,750
Public Service - Food Second Harvest Food 

Bank
$37,298 $15,000 $52,298

On February 25, 2021, City Council directed staff to initiate the application process for an 
annual CDBG application.  At the next City Council meeting on March 25, staff will bring a 
recommendation to apply for a 2021 CDBG grant for three public service activities with Second 
Harvest, Grey Bears, and Community Bridge (Lift Line and Meals on Wheels).  Funding these 
same organizations and programs with either general fund or ECYP will jeopardize future 
allocations of CDBG funding outside of the CARES Act funding.  

In addition to the CDBG awards, expected stimulus legislation at the federal level may include 
restricted funding for the City that potentially could be used to fund non-profits. At this time, it is 
not known what, if any, restrictions the expected federal stimulus funding will include. Because 
of these unknowns, the FAC did not recommend funding the Community Grant program for FY 
2020-21 until there was a better understanding of the federal funding implications.   

Taking out $121,000 for programs anticipated for funding in the 2021 CDBG application, the 
remaining programs accounted for $101,000 of the $222,000 in FY 19/20 General Fund 
community grants. None of the ECYP grant recipients received CDBG CV funding.

9.B

Packet Pg. 54



2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update 
March 11, 2021

If the Council desires to fund the Community Grant Program for FY 2020-21, staff recommends
the following:

• Open the application process for programs not receiving CDBG funding,

• Form an ad-hoc subcommittee to review the applications,

• Direct staff to return when more information is known about the federal legislation to 
determine the program funding amount and source.

Additional Budget Requests:

As discussed in a separate item on this same agenda, staff requests an increase in the Capitola 
Housing Successor Agency expenditure budget by $10,150 for Consulting Services - Housing 
Program Administration.  

Additionally, on January 13, 2021 Capitola was awarded grant funding as part of the Community 
Development Block Grant – Coronavirus Round 1 (CDBG-CV1) grant which the City Council 
authorized acceptance of at the time the grant application was submitted.

Amount Expenditure Account Number

$ 10,150 CS-Plng &Hsg Grant Admin Consultant 5552-00-00-000-4345.202

$ 20,000 Emergency Mortgage Assistance - CAB 1351-00-00-000-4350.xxx

$ 66,924 Food Assistance (Program Income) – Meals on Wheels 1351-00-00-000-4350.xxx

$ 37,298 Second Harvest Food Bank 1351-00-00-000-4350.xxx

$ 15,750 Grey Bears Healthy Food 1351-00-00-000-4350.xxx

$ 28,669 Grant Administration – Paul Ashby 1351-00-00-000-4345.202

FISCAL IMPACT: If approved, these requested budget amendments as presented will not 
impact the overall general fund budget or projected FY 2020-21 ending general fund balance, 
however they will provide a better reflection of current general fund operations and projections. 
If the City Council approves funding the Community Grant program at this time the majority of 
that funding will come from the general fund and reduce the June 30, 2021 estimated fund 
balance amount.

The Housing Successor Agency Fund expenditure budget will be increased by $10,150 which
currently has a balance of approximately $233,334 with $52,000 of approved expenditures for 
the remainder of the fiscal year. The Community Development Block Grant Program Income 
expenditure budget will be increase by $168,641 which includes the utilization of $80,633 of the 
current $89,300 unencumbered fund balance.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. !2nd. Qtr Budget Amendment Reso
2. !2nd Qtr 2021 MYE Summary of Changes

Report Prepared By:  Jim Malberg
Finance Director

9.B

Packet Pg. 55



2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update 
March 11, 2021

Reviewed and Forwarded by:

9.B

Packet Pg. 56



RESOLUTION NO. _____ 
 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CAPITOLA  
AMENDING THE 2020/2021 FISCAL YEAR CITY BUDGET AND CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT 

PROGRAM BUDGET 
 

 WHEREAS, it is necessary to adopt the 2020/2021 Fiscal Year Budget for all City funds 
and Capital Improvement Program; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council conducted budget study sessions, heard and considered 
public comments, had modified and proposed a budget accordingly, and on June 11, 2020 adopted 
such budget for the Fiscal Year July 1, 2020, through June 30, 2021; and  
 
 WHEREAS, since the adoption of the budget the City has received CARES Act funding in 
addition to revenue greater than anticipated, and on September 24, 2020 amended the Fiscal Year 
2020/2021 budget to reflect those revised projections; and  
 
 WHEREAS, since the adoption of the budget the City has continued to receive revenue 
greater than anticipated, and on December 10, 2020 amended the Fiscal Year 2020/2021 budget 
for a second time to reflect those revised projections more accurately; and 
 
 WEHREAS, the City has now received revenue data for the first half of FY 2020-21 
indicating that sales tax continues to outpace current projections while cannabis business tax is 
only performing at fifty percent of projections.  All other general fund revenues are performing close 
to the amended budget projections; and 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 
Capitola that the 2020/2021 Fiscal Year Budget is hereby amended as detailed in Exhibit A MYE 
Summary of Changes; and  

   
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Finance Director is directed to enter the budget into 
the City's accounting records in accordance with appropriate accounting practices, and the City 
Manager, with the Finance Director's assistance, shall ensure compliance therewith. 
 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Resolution was passed and adopted by the City 
Council of the City of Capitola on the 11th day of March 2021, by the following vote: 
 

AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:  
ABSTAIN:  

  
       _____________________ 

         ________________, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________  ___ 
Chloe Woodmansee, City Clerk 

9.B.1

Packet Pg. 57

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 !

2n
d

. Q
tr

 B
u

d
g

et
 A

m
en

d
m

en
t 

R
es

o
  (

20
20

-2
1 

M
id

-y
ea

r 
B

u
d

g
et

 U
p

d
at

e)



General Fund

Incr / (Decr.)$ Fund Account Purpose

187,500$                    1000‐00‐00‐000 3130.xxx Sales Tax

(187,500)$                   1000‐00‐00‐000 3145.000 Cannabis Retail Tax

‐$                             Net increase in revenues

Other Funds

10,150$                      5552‐00‐00‐000 4345.202 CS‐Plng & Hsg Grant Admin Consulting

20,000$                      1351‐00‐00‐000 4350.xxx Emergency Mortgage Assistance ‐ CAB

66,924$                      1351‐00‐00‐000 4350.xxx Food Asistance (Program Income Only) ‐ Meals on Wheels / Liftline

37,298$                      1351‐00‐00‐000 4350.xxx Second Harvest Food Bank

15,750$                      1351‐00‐00‐000 4350.xxx Grey Bears Healthy Food

28,669$                      1351‐00‐00‐000 4345.202 Grant Administration ‐ Paul Ashby

178,791$                   

Expenditures

MYE ‐ Summary of Changes

Revenue

9.B.2

Packet Pg. 58

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 !

2n
d

 Q
tr

 2
02

1 
M

Y
E

 S
u

m
m

ar
y 

o
f 

C
h

an
g

es
  (

20
20

-2
1 

M
id

-y
ea

r 
B

u
d

g
et

 U
p

d
at

e)


	Agenda Packet
	CLOSED SESSION
	REGULAR MEETING OF THE CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL
	1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	A. Roll Call

	2. PRESENTATIONS
	A. Red Cross Month
	Printout: Red Cross Month
	1. Red Cross Month- March 2021 


	3. REPORT ON CLOSED SESSION
	4. ADDITIONAL MATERIALS
	5. ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS TO AGENDA
	6. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	7. CITY COUNCIL / STAFF COMMENTS
	8. CONSENT CALENDAR
	A. Approve Council Minutes
	Printout: Approve Council Minutes
	1. 2-25-21 short draft

	B. Approval of City Check Registers
	Printout: Approval of City Check Registers
	1. 2-5-21 Check Register
	2. 2-12-21 Check Register
	3. 2-19-21 Check Register
	4. 2-26-21 Check Register

	C. Amendment to Carolyn Flynn Contract
	Printout: Amendment to Carolyn Flynn Contract

	D. COVID-19 Emergency- Update 21 & Emergency Order
	Printout: COVID-19 Emergency- Update 21 & Emergency Order


	9. GENERAL GOVERNMENT / PUBLIC HEARINGS
	A. Summer 2021 Recreation Update
	Printout: Summer 2021 Recreation Update

	B. 2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update
	Printout: 2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update
	1. !2nd. Qtr Budget Amendment Reso
	2. !2nd Qtr 2021 MYE Summary of Changes


	10. ADJOURNMENT

	Appendix
	2.A · Red Cross Month
	2.A.1 · Red Cross Month- March 2021 

	8.A · Approve Council Minutes
	8.A.1 · 2-25-21 short draft

	8.B · Approval of City Check Registers
	8.B.1 · 2-5-21 Check Register
	8.B.2 · 2-12-21 Check Register
	8.B.3 · 2-19-21 Check Register
	8.B.4 · 2-26-21 Check Register

	8.C · Amendment to Carolyn Flynn Contract
	8.D · COVID-19 Emergency- Update 21 & Emergency Order
	9.A · Summer 2021 Recreation Update
	9.B · 2020-21 Mid-year Budget Update
	9.B.1 · !2nd. Qtr Budget Amendment Reso
	9.B.2 · !2nd Qtr 2021 MYE Summary of Changes



